



Extended Research Article

Opportunities and practices supporting responsive health care for forced migrants: lessons from transnational practice and a mixed-methods systematic review

Amy Robinson,^{1*} Protus Musotsi,² Ziaur Rahman A Khan,³ Laura Nellums,⁴ Bayan Faiq,³ Kofi Broadhurst,¹ Gisela Renolds,³ Michael Pritchard¹ and Andrew Smith¹

Published May 2025 DOI: 10.3310/MRWK3419

Plain language summary

Opportunities and practices supporting responsive health care for forced migrants: lessons from transnational practice and a mixed-methods systematic review

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2025; Vol. 13: No. 13

DOI: 10.3310/MRWK3419

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

¹Lancaster Patient Safety and Health Services Research Unit, University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Trust, Lancaster, UK

²Sentum Scientific Solutions, Nairobi, Kenya

³Global Link, Lancaster, UK

⁴University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

^{*}Corresponding author amy00robinson@gmail.com

Plain language summary

Our question

How can we improve and shape health care to better respond to refugee and asylum-seeking communities?

What we did

We (1) gathered the views of local refugee and asylum-seeking communities, healthcare staff and other stakeholders (such as council and community workers) about their ideas for improvements in healthcare provision; (2) searched for research articles on our topic and summarised the evidence; (3) sought current examples of high-quality health services for people who are refugees or seeking asylum to find out how they worked and what we could learn from them.

What we found

Our summary of the research articles showed that refugee and asylum-seeking communities benefit from health services that:

- deliver care in groups and in places that are familiar
- support understanding and confidence in local systems
- are delivered by people who they trust, who have some shared understanding or interest in refugee experiences and different cultures or a shared language.

The case study services showed:

- a willingness to try new ways of working
- that creating welcoming spaces and building trust with patients is possible
- the importance of showing an interest and taking action in relation to someone's health and their interests, hopes and broader situation
- that a total commitment to communicating well, using good interpreters, and sometimes bilingual workers and peers, was essential.

Our learning from stakeholders informed our research decisions and was incorporated into a map of important healthcare people and places and a table of possible responsive healthcare actions.

Conclusions

Our study showed that health care must be flexible, be interested in individuals and culture, committed to communication and learning, and support people to live meaningful lives. We recommend that a wide range of traditional and non-traditional health providers, such as community leaders, peers, schools and settlement services, work together to improve care.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm.

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR132961. The contractual start date was in July 2021. The draft manuscript began editorial review in May 2023 and was accepted for publication in November 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2025 Robinson *et al.* This work was produced by Robinson *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).